IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA Alexandria Division

BADAR KHAN SURI,

Petitioner,

V.

Donald J. TRUMP, in his official capacity as President of the United States;

Russell HOTT, in his official capacity as Field Office Director of Washington, Immigration and Customs Enforcement;

Jeffrey CRAWFORD, in his official capacity as Warden of Farmville Detention Center;

Todd LYONS, Acting Director, U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement;

Kristi NOEM, in her official capacity as Secretary of the United States Department of Homeland Security;

Marco RUBIO, in his official capacity as Secretary of State; and

Pamela BONDI, in her official capacity as Attorney General, U.S. Department of Justice,

Respondents.

INTRODUCTION

1. This case concerns the government's targeted, retaliatory detention and attempted removal of a postdoctoral fellow at Georgetown University based on his family connections and constitutionally protected free speech. Petitioner Badar Khan Suri is a citizen and national of India, and is in the United States in lawful status as a visiting scholar pursuant to lawful admission. The Trump administration has openly expressed its intention to weaponize immigration law to punish noncitizens whose views are

Case No. 1:25-cv-480

PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS AND COMPLAINT

deemed critical of U.S. policy as it relates to Israel. In this case, the government appears to be targeting Mr. Suri, a noncitizen, due to his U.S. citizen wife's identity as a Palestinian and her constitutionally protected speech.

- 2. On March 17, 2025, Badar Khan Suri, a J-1 visa holder, was arrested and charged with removability under 8 U.S.C. §1227(a)(4)(C) and detained. This was done pursuant to a policy ("the Policy") to retaliate against and punish noncitizens like Mr. Suri solely for their family ties to those who may have either expressed criticism of U.S. foreign policy as it relates to Israel, or who are perceived to hold such critical views imputed to them due to familial relationship. Under the Policy, Respondent Marco Rubio, the Secretary of State, would make determinations that such individuals' presence or activities in the United States would have potentially serious foreign policy consequences for the United States and would compromise a compelling United States foreign policy interest. These determinations would then permit the Department of Homeland Security to seek to detain and remove such individuals from the United States.
- 3. Pursuant to the Policy, Respondent Rubio, the Secretary of State, purportedly made such a determination as to Mr. Suri (the "Rubio Determination"). Secretary Rubio made this determination based on Mr. Suri's lawful activity protected by the First Amendment, his wife's lawful activity protected by the First Amendment, and his wife's familial relationship. Neither Secretary Rubio nor any other government official has alleged that Mr. Suri has committed any crime or, indeed, broken any law whatsoever.
- 4. Pursuant to the Rubio Determination, the Department of Homeland Security decided to arrest Mr. Suri, detain him, and place him in removal proceedings. On the evening of March 17, 2025, agents from the Department of Homeland Security ("DHS") arrested Mr. Suri with no prior notice at his home and initiated proceedings to remove him from

this country.

- 5. Mr. Suri is, upon information and belief, detained at Farmville Detention Center in Farmville, VA, Prince Edward County. He is at imminent risk of being moved to a detention facility in Los Fresnos, Texas, on the Mexican border.
- 6. Mr. Suri lives in Rosslyn, Virginia. On March 17, 2025, he was coming back home from iftar. Law enforcement agents surrounded him outside of his building. Mr. Suri called his wife, Mapheze Saleh, immediately. The agents identified themselves as members of the Department of Homeland Security and stated that the government had revoked his visa.
- 7. Mr. Suri asked that his wife be allowed to bring his passport and documents from inside the home. Ms. Saleh brought the documents and stood with Mr. Suri and multiple agents outside for about 10 minutes. The agents had face coverings, and Ms. Saleh could only see their eyes. The officers took Mr. Suri's passport and DS-2019 form, but they did not permit his wife to hand over the passport or other documents directly to Petitioner. Approximately two hours later, Mr. Suri called Ms. Saleh to state he was being transferred to a detention center in Farmville, VA. Mr. Suri and Ms. Saleh have three children.
- 8. Mr. Suri and his U.S. Citizen wife, Mapheze Saleh, have long been doxxed and smeared. Ms. Saleh is featured with her photograph and academic affiliation on the anonymously-run blacklisting site, The Canary Mission, which includes her former employment at Al Jazeera and her city of birth, Gaza City, as support for her alleged ties with Hamas. The Canary Mission website maintains a blacklist of individuals perceived to support Palestinian rights and is infamous for bullying, slandering, and defaming academics and students. In addition, Mr. Suri and Ms. Saleh have been smeared by Camera.org ("The Committee for Accuracy in Middle East Reporting and Analysis"), a

lobbying and media monitoring group that spreads misinformation and seeks to discredit American Muslims.

9. The Rubio Determination and the government's subsequent actions, including its ongoing detention of Mr. Suri, and plans to whisk him 1,600 miles away in the same manner as the government did in the case of Mr. Mahmoud Khalil, isolating him from his wife, children, community, and legal team, are plainly intended as retaliation and punishment for Mr. Suri's protected speech and intended to silence, or at the very least restrict and chill, his speech now and in the future, all in violation of the First Amendment. Indeed, contemporaneous and subsequent statements by administration officials expressly characterize the invocation of this rarely used provision as punishment for Mr. Suri's lawful and protected speech. The Rubio Determination and Mr. Suri's unjustified detention also violate his due process rights. Finally, the government's unlawful Policy of targeting noncitizens for removal based on protected speech is arbitrary and capricious, contrary to law in violation of the Administrative Procedure Act, and viewpoint discriminatory in violation of the First Amendment. Accordingly, this Court should vacate the Rubio Determination and the Policy, order Mr. Suri's immediate release, and set aside the government's unlawful policy.

PARTIES

10. Petitioner Badar Khan Suri is a citizen and national of India. He is married to a U.S. citizen, and is in the United States in J-1 status as a visiting scholar after having been duly admitted. He is currently teaching a course on Majoritarianism & Minority Rights in South Asia and as a postdoctoral fellow. He hopes to become a university professor and embark on a career in academia and teaching. Petitioner has no criminal record and is not being charged with any crime.

- 11. Respondent Donald J. Trump is named in his official capacity as the President of the United States. In this capacity, he is responsible for the policies and actions of the executive branch, including the Department of State and Department of Homeland Security. Respondent Trump's address is the White House, 1600 Pennsylvania Ave. NW, Washington, D.C. 20500.
- 12. Respondent Russell Hott is named in his official capacity as the Acting Field Office Director of the Washington Field Office for Immigration and Customs Enforcement ("ICE") within the United States Department of Homeland Security. In this capacity, he is responsible for the administration of immigration laws and the execution of detention and removal determinations and is a custodian of Petitioner. Respondent Hott's address is Washington ICE ERO Field Office, 14797 Murdock St., Chantilly, VA 20151.
- 13. Respondent Jeffrey Crawford is the Director of the Farmville Detention Center where, upon information and belief, Petitioner is detained. In this capacity, he is responsible for the immediate execution of detention over Petitioner and is the immediate custodian of Petitioner. Respondent Crawford's address is Farmville Detention Center, 508 Waterworks Dr., Farmville, VA 23901.
- 14. Respondent Todd Lyons is the Acting Director of ICE. As the Senior Official Performing the Duties of the Director of ICE, he is responsible for the administration and enforcement of the immigration laws of the United States; routinely transacts business in the Eastern District of Virginia; is legally responsible for pursuing any effort to remove the Petitioner; and as such is a custodian of the Petitioner. His address is ICE, Office of the Principal Legal Advisor, 500 12th St. SW, Mail Stop 5900, Washington, DC 20536-5900.
- 15. Respondent Kristi Noem is named in her official capacity as the Secretary of Homeland

Security in the United States Department of Homeland Security. In this capacity, she is responsible for the administration of the immigration laws pursuant to Section 103(a) of the INA, 8 U.S.C. § 1103(a) (2007); routinely transacts business in the Eastern District of Virginia; is legally responsible for pursuing any effort to detain and remove the Petitioner; and as such is a custodian of the Petitioner. Respondent Noem's address is U.S. Department of Homeland Security, Office of the General Counsel, 2707 Martin Luther King Jr. Ave. SE, Washington, DC 20528-0485.

- 16. Respondent Marco Rubio is named in his official capacity as the United States Secretary of State. In this capacity, among other things, he has the authority to determine, based on "reasonable" grounds, that the "presence or activities" of a noncitizen "would have serious adverse foreign policy consequences for the United States." Following such a determination, DHS may initiate removal proceedings under 8 U.S.C. § 1227(a)(4)(C)(i) (INA § 237(a)(4)(C)(i).) In addition to his legal responsibilities under Section 237(a)(4)(C)(i), he routinely transacts business in the Eastern District of Virginia and as such is a custodian of the Petitioner. His address is United States Department of State, 2201 C Street, NW, Washington, D.C. 20520.
- 17. Respondent Pamela Bondi is the Attorney General of the United States. In this capacity, she routinely transacts business in the Eastern District of Virginia; is responsible for the administration of the immigration laws pursuant to Section 103(a) of the INA, 8 U.S.C. § 1103(g) (2007); and as such is a custodian of the Petitioner. Respondent Bondi's address is U.S. Department of Justice, 950 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW, Washington, DC 20530- 0001.

JURISDICTION & VENUE

- 18. The Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331, 28 U.S.C. § 2241, Article I, §9, cl. 2 (the Suspension Clause) and Article III of the U.S. Constitution, the Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. §701 et seq.; and 28 U.S.C. § 2201 (Declaratory Judgment).
- An actual and justiciable controversy exists between the parties under 28 U.S.C. §
 2201, and this Court has authority to grant declaratory and injunctive relief. *Id.* §§
 2201, 2202. The Court has additional remedial authority under the All Writs Act, 28
 U.S.C. § 1651.
- 20. Venue is proper in this district and division pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2241(c)(3) and 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2) and (e)(1) because a substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to this action occurred and continue to occur at ICE's Washington Field Office in Chantilly, Virginia within this district. Moreover, according to the federal government's official records at the time of filing, Mr. Suri was being held in Farmville, VA, when this habeas was initiated. At the time of filing, the detainee locator failed to update Mr. Suri's location. However, upon information and belief, Mr. Suri is, at the moment of this filing, physically within the Commonwealth of Virginia.

FACTS

The Trump Administration's Hostile Campaign Against Palestinians and Palestinian Rights Advocacy: A Concerted Effort to Silence Protected Political Speech

21. In the fall of 2023, thousands of students across the U.S. from a wide range of racial, ethnic, religious, and socioeconomic backgrounds began organizing on their campuses, many criticizing what they saw as the steadfast support of their universities and the United States government for Israel's policies. These campus protests resulted in opponents of these students' messages—including President Donald J. Trump—to characterize campus speech in favor of Palestinian rights as inherently supportive of Hamas and antisemitic. For example, in several instances, President Trump described a Jewish lawmaker who had criticized Israeli Prime Minister Benjamin Netanyahu as "a proud member of Hamas" and "a Palestinian," using "Palestinian" as a slur.³

- 22. During his campaign for re-election, President Trump repeatedly vowed to use visa revocations as a tactic to pursue his policy of silencing pro-Palestine activities on university campuses.
- 23. For example, at a rally in Las Vegas on October 28, 2023, Trump pledged to "terminate the visas of all of those Hamas sympathizers, and we'll get them off our college campuses, out of our cities, and get them the hell out of our country."
- 24. In the spring of 2024, Trump promised campaign donors that he would deport pro-Palestinian student demonstrators to get them to "behave." Upon information and belief, at a round table event in New York, he stated, "One thing I do is, any student that protests, I throw them out of the country. You know, there are a lot of foreign students. As soon as they hear that, they're going to behave."¹
- 25. Similarly, in a social media post on his official X account on October 15, 2023, then-Senator Marco Rubio, referring to ongoing student protests in support of Palestinians, stated the U.S. should "cancel the visa of every foreign national out there supporting Hamas and get them out of America."

¹Niha Masih, *Trump draws condemnation for using 'Palestinian' as a slur against Schumer*, Washington Post (March 13, 2025), https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/2025/03/13/trump- schumer-palestinian-slur/. Indeed, in his first term, President Trump also issued Executive Order 13899, titled "Combating Anti-Semitism," which, among other things, adopted a definition of antisemitism that includes plainly protected criticism of Israel and its policies. *See* 84 Fed. Reg. 68779 (Dec. 11, 2019) (including as an example of antisemitism "drawing comparisons of contemporary Israeli policy to that of the Nazis")

President Trump Issues Executive Orders to Target Speech of Noncitizen Protestors

- 26. Shortly after assuming office on January 20, 2025, President Trump signed two executive orders aimed at fulfilling the above campaign promises: Executive Order 14161, titled "Protecting the United States from Foreign Terrorists and Other National Security and Public Safety Threats," signed on January 20, 2025, and Executive Order 14188, titled "Additional Measures to Combat Anti-Semitism," signed on January 29, 2025.
- 27. Executive Order 14161 states that it is the United States' policy to "protect its citizens" from noncitizens who "espouse hateful ideology." It further articulates the administration's desire to target noncitizens who "advocate for, aid, or support designated foreign terrorists and other threats to our national security," those who hold "hateful" views, and those who "bear hostile attitudes toward [America's] citizens, culture, government, institutions, or founding principles." The order's overly broad framing of "hostile attitudes" towards the American government could encompass any form of political dissent, including advocacy for Palestinian human rights.
- **28.** Executive Order 14188 states that, in order to "combat campus anti-Semitism," the administration will target for investigation "post-October 7, 2023, campus anti-Semitism." The order adopts a definition of antisemitism that includes constitutionally protected criticism of the Israeli government and its policies.⁷ In a fact sheet accompanying Executive Order 14188, the White House described the measure as "forceful and unprecedented," specifically targeting "leftist, anti-American colleges and universities." It framed the order as a "promise" to "deport Hamas sympathizers and revoke student visas," sending a clear message to all "resident aliens [*sic*] who participated in pro-jihadist protests" that the federal government "will find you... and

deport you."

The Government Responds to Groups Identifying Noncitizen Protestors for Deportation By Adopting the Unlawful Policy

- 29. In response to these Executive Orders and as part of an escalating attack on the core political speech at issue, certain groups opposed to Palestinian rights protests began publicizing the names of individuals they wanted the government to deport. Specifically, these groups compiled lists of students and faculty who had engaged in Palestine-related advocacy and, upon information and belief, submitted these lists to ICE's tip line, or publicly flagged names to U.S. Government official accounts.
- 30. Earlier this month, media reports described widespread fear of retaliation for pro-Palestine speech among noncitizen students, faculty, and other university affiliates, noting that the executive orders "already appear to be chilling political activism."
- 31. On or before March 7, 2025, Respondents adopted the Policy by which they would retaliate against and punish noncitizens like Mr. Suri for his family relationship and constitutionally protected free speech. Under the Policy, Respondent Rubio, the Secretary of State, would make determinations that such individuals' presence or activities in the United States would have potentially serious foreign policy consequences for the United States and would compromise a compelling United States foreign policy interest. These determinations would then permit the Department of Homeland Security to seek to detain and deport such individuals.
- 32. In the days since Mr. Khalil's arrest, there have been reports of other instances of visa revocations of individuals purportedly based on their participation in Palestine-related speech. On March 13, Secretary of Homeland Security Kristi Noem announced that another Columbia student, Ranjani Srinivasan, who had participated in student protests on Columbia University's campus had her student visa revoked, and a third individual,

Leqaa Kordia, who had been arrested on Columbia's campus in April 2024, was arrested by ICE.

- 33. Secretary of State Marco Rubio stated, "We will be revoking the visas and/or green cards of Hamas supporters in America so they can be deported."
- 34. The Rubio Determination was exclusively motivated by Mr. Suri's family relationship and constitutionally-protected past, current, or expected beliefs, statements, or associations. Public statements by government officials, up to and including the President and Secretary of State in cases for similarly situated noncitizens, invoking the same charge under 8 U.S.C. 1227(a)(4)(C)(i), establish that Respondents are punishing, detaining, and attempting to silence Mr. Suri.
- 35. The Foreign Policy Bar expressly prohibits the Secretary of State from issuing a policy to exclude or condition entry based on a noncitizen's "past, current, or expected beliefs, statements, or associations, if such beliefs, statements, or associations would be lawful within the United States," unless the Secretary personally certifies to Congress that admitting the individual would compromise a compelling U.S. foreign policy interest. *See id.* (citing INA § 212(a)(3)(C)(iii)). Upon information and belief, Secretary Marco Rubio has not provided any certifications regarding a determination under the Foreign Policy Ground concerning Mr. Suri to the chairs of the House Foreign Affairs, Senate Foreign Relations, and House and Senate Judiciary Committees, as required by 8 U.S.C. § 1182(a)(3)(C)(iv).
- 36. Nor could he. Legislative history reveals that Congress intended to limit the Executive's authority to exclude noncitizens based on their speech or beliefs. When the Moynihan Amendment was passed in 1987, the Senate Committee warned that "[f]or many years,

the United States has embarrassed itself by excluding prominent foreigners from visiting the United States solely because of their political beliefs." The amendment was intended "to take away the executive branch's authority to deny visas to foreigners solely because of the foreigner's political beliefs or because of his anticipated speech in the United States," while affirming "the principles of the First Amendment." (S. Rep. No. 100–75 at 11, 100th Cong., 1st Sess. (1987), reprinted in 133 Cong. Rec. S2326 (1987)).

37. Congress further evinced its intent to restrict the Executive's ability to exclude foreign speakers by asserting that such exclusions should not be based solely on "the possible content of an alien's speech in this country," that the Secretary's authority to determine that entry would compromise foreign policy interests should be used "sparingly and not merely because there is a likelihood that an alien will make critical remarks about the United States or its policies," and that the "compelling foreign policy interest" standard should be applied strictly. (H.R. Conf. Rep. No. 101-955, 101st Cong., 2nd Sess. (1990), reprinted in 1990 U.S.C.C.A.N. 6784, 6794).

CLAIMS FOR RELIEF

<u>FIRST CLAIM</u> Violation of the First Amendment to the United States Constitution

38. Petitioner repeats and re-alleges the allegations contained in the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint-Petition as if fully set forth herein. The First Amendment to the United States Constitution provides in part that "Congress shall make no law . . . abridging the freedom of speech . . . or the right of the people . . . to petition the Government for a redress of grievances." U.S. Const. Amend. I. The First Amendment protects past, present, and future speech, including speech by noncitizens.

- 39. The Rubio Determination and Policy Mr. Suri's targeting, arrest, transfer, and ongoing detention violate the First Amendment because they:
 - retaliate against and punish Mr. Suri for his or his wife's past protected speech, or speech imputed to him or his wife as a result of his family relationship;
 - prevent him from speaking now (through detention);
 - attempt to chill (through past punishment and ongoing threat) or prevent (through eventual removal) his future speech in the United States;
 - deprive audiences of his present and future speech on matters of public concern; and
 - chill other individuals who express support for Palestinian rights.
- 40. These speech-related consequences are not side effects of an action with some other purpose; they are, instead, the point of the Determination and the government's subsequent actions against Mr. Suri and those similarly situated, in government officials' own telling, the result of their disagreement with his protected speech and the viewpoint it expresses.

SECOND CLAIM Violation of the Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution

- 41. Petitioner repeats and re-alleges the allegations contained in the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint-Petition as if fully set forth herein.
- 42. The Constitution establishes due process rights for "all 'persons' within the United States, including [noncitizens], whether their presence here is lawful, unlawful, temporary, or permanent." *Zadvydas v. Davis*, 533 U.S. 678, 693 (2001).
- 43. The government's detention of Mr. Suri is wholly unjustified. The government has

not demonstrated that Mr. Suri—a husband to a U.S. citizen, a father of three young children, and with no criminal history—needs to be detained. *See Zadvydas*, 533 U.S. at 690 (finding immigration detention must further the twin goals of (1) ensuring the noncitizen's appearance during removal proceedings and (2) preventing danger to the community). There is no credible argument that Mr. Suri cannot be safely released back to his family.

- 44. Moreover, Mr. Suri's detention is punitive as it bears no "reasonable relation" to any legitimate government purpose. *Zadvydas*, 533 U.S. at 690 (finding immigration detention is civil and thus ostensibly "nonpunitive in purpose and effect"). The sole basis of his detention—the Foreign Policy Ground and the Rubio Determination—are unlawful for the reasons discussed *supra*. Here, there is every indication that his "detention is not to facilitate deportation, or to protect against risk of flight or dangerousness, but to incarcerate for other reasons." *Demore v. Kim*, 538 U.S. 510, 532-33 (2003) (Kennedy, J., concurring).
- 45. The Policy and the Rubio Determination also violate Mr. Suri's right to due process. The government's policy of Foreign Policy Ground making such determinations concerning people like Mr. Suri—who is in valid J-1 status, living peacefully in the country is unconstitutionally vague where it is due to perceived or actual constitutionally protected free speech and familial relationships.

<u>THIRD CLAIM</u> Violation of the Administrative Procedure Act and the *Accardi* Doctrine

46. Petitioner repeats and re-alleges the allegations contained in the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint-Petition as if fully set forth herein. The government has adopted a policy of targeting noncitizens for removal based on First Amendment-protected speech advocating for Palestinian rights, including the speech of close family members. This policy is arbitrary and capricious, an abuse of discretion, contrary to constitutional right, contrary to law, and in excess of statutory jurisdiction. 5 U.S.C.A. § 706 (2)(A), (B), (C), and violates the *Accardi* doctrine and federal agencies' own rules, *see Accardi v. Shaughnessy*, 347 U.S. 260 (1954). In addition, the Secretary of State's determination that Mr. Suri's "presence or activities would potentially have serious adverse foreign policy consequences for the United States" and "would compromise a compelling United States foreign policy interest" is arbitrary and capricious, an abuse of discretion, contrary to constitutional right, contrary to law, and in excess of statutory jurisdiction. 5 U.S.C.A. § 706 (2)(A), (B), (C).

FOURTH CLAIM

Release on Bail Pending Adjudication

- 47. Petitioner repeats and re-alleges the allegations contained in the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint-Petition as if fully set forth herein.
- 48. Under 28 U.S.C.A. § 2241, federal district courts are granted broad authority, "within their respective jurisdictions," 28 U.S.C.A. § 2241(a), to hear applications for writs of habeas corpus filed by persons claiming to be held "in custody in violation of the Constitution or laws or treaties of the United States." *Timms v. Johns*, 627 F. 3d 525 (4th Cir. 2010)
- 49. This petition raises numerous substantial constitutional and statutory claims challenging Mr. Suri's retaliatory detention. Extraordinary circumstances exist that make Mr. Suri's release essential for the remedy to be effective. His detention prevents him from adequately litigating his removal proceedings.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Petitioner respectfully requests that this Court:

1) Assume jurisdiction over this matter;

2) Vacate and set aside Respondents' unlawful Policy of targeting noncitizens for removal based on First Amendment-protected speech advocating for Palestinian rights and/or their family relationships;

- 3) Vacate and set aside the Rubio Determination;
- Enjoin Respondents from transferring the Petitioner from the jurisdiction of this District pending these proceedings;
- 5) Order the immediate release of Petitioner pending these proceedings;
- 6) Order the release of Petitioner;
- Declare that Respondents' actions to arrest and detain Petitioner violate the First Amendment and the Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment;
- 8) Award reasonable attorneys' fees and costs for this action; and
- 9) Grant such further relief as the Court deems just and proper.

Dated: March 18, 2025

Sterling, Virginia

<u>/s/Hassan Ahmad</u> Hassan Ahmad (VSB #83428) The HMA Law Firm, PLLC 6 Pidgeon Hill Dr, Suite 330 Sterling, VA 20165 T: 703.964.0245 <u>hma@hmalegal.com</u> *Counsel for Petitioner*

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, undersigned counsel, hereby certify that on this date, I filed this Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus and all attachments using the CM/ECF system. I will furthermore mail a copy by USPS Certified Priority Mail with Return Receipts to each of the following individuals:

Jeffrey Crawford, Warden Farmville Detention Center P.O. Drawer N 508 Waterworks Road Farmville, VA 23901

Russell Hott, Field Office Director U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement, Washington Field Office c/o DHS Office of the General Counsel 2707 Martin Luther King Jr. Ave, SE Washington, DC 20528-0485

Kristi Noem, Secretary U.S. Department of Homeland Security c/o DHS Office of the General Counsel 2707 Martin Luther King Jr. Ave, SE Washington, DC 20528-0485

Pamela Bondi, Attorney General U.S. Department of Justice 950 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20530-0001

Todd Lyons, ICE Director c/o DHS Office of the General Counsel 2707 Martin Luther King Jr. Ave, SE Washington, DC 20528-0485

Jessica D. Aber, U.S. Attorney c/o Civil Process Clerk Eastern District of Virginia, Alexandria Division 2100 Jamieson Avenue Alexandria, VA 22314

Dated: March 18, 2025

<u>/s/Hassan Ahmad</u> Hassan Ahmad (VSB #83428) The HMA Law Firm, PLLC 6 Pidgeon Hill Dr, Suite 330 Sterling, VA 20165 T: 703.964.0245 <u>hma@hmalegal.com</u> *Counsel for Petitioner*